
Document Number: 1751347 V1 

 
 
 
 

 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 25, 2019 
COUNCIL MEETING – 6:00 PM 

 
“Live” Broadcast via City Website www.cnv.org/LiveStreaming 

Complete Agenda Package available at www.cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, February 25, 2019 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, February 11, 2019 
 
PROCLAMATION 
 

Rare Disease Day – February 28, 2019 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
DELEGATION 
 

Krystal Brennan, Wildcoast Ecological Society – Science, Restoration, Stewardship 
 
Item 3 refers. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
3. Krystal Brennan, Wildcoast Ecological Society – Science, Restoration, Stewardship 

January 16, 2019 
 
REPORTS 
 
4. Flood Risk Assessment, Flood Mapping and Flood Mitigation Planning – UBCM 

Grant Application 
 
5. Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence Application 
 
6. Proposed 2019 Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) Resolution 
 
7. Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 

Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment) 
 

Item 8 refers.  

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL TO 
COMMENCE AT 6:00 PM, IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY 
HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 25, 2019



The Corporation of the   Council Agenda for 
City of North Vancouver Page 2 February 25, 2019 
 
BYLAW – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
8. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8549” 

(Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment) 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
9. Climate Action – Councillor McIlroy 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Section 90(1)(a) [personal information] and Section 
90(1)(e) [property matter]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 



Document Number: 1747827 V1 

 
 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14th  STREET, NORTH 
VANCOUVER, BC, ON MONDAY, FEBRUARY 11, 2019 

 
 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 
STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
Councillor T. Hu  
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, City Clerk 
J. Peters, Assistant City Clerk 
B. Pearce, Director, Strategic Initiatives and Services 
H. Reinhold, Deputy Director, Strategic Initiatives and Services 
R. Skene, Manager, Facilities and Real Estate 
S. Antoniali, Section Manager, Real Estate 
G. Munro, Manager, Information Technology 
B. Themens, Director, Finance 
L. Garber, Deputy Director, Finance 
D. Cameron, Budget Analyst 
J. Svancara, Budget Analyst 
M. Epp, Director, Planning 
S. Galloway, Manager, Planning 
J. Draper, Manager, Transportation 
H. Evans, Community Planner 
D. Johnson, Development Planner 
G. Penway, Acting Director, Community Services 
D. Pope, City Engineer 
K. Magnusson, Deputy Director, Engineering 
B. Willock, Manager, Engineering Planning and Design 
M. Hunter, Manager, Parks and Environment 
J. Klochnyk, Section Manager, Streets and Fleet 
A. Negenman, Environmental Technician 
C. Nichols, Manager, Human Resources 
H. Turner, Director, North Vancouver Recreation and Culture 
G. Houg, Manager, Maintenance and Engineering Services, NVRCC
K. Bickford, Finance Section Manager, NVRCC 
D. Pistilli, Fire Chief 
C. Kennedy, Superintendent, RCMP 
S. Fraser, Manager, Police Support Services 
T. Huckell, Committee Clerk 
 

The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, February 11, 2019 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, February 4, 2019 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
PROCLAMATION 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamation: 

 

Heritage Week – February 18 to 24, 2019 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

• Ron Sostad, 231 East 15th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding social housing. 
• Shari Laszlo, 318 East 22nd Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding infrastructure 

funding for the Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda”, be approved. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
*3. Board in Brief, Greater Vancouver Regional District, Metro Vancouver 
 January 25, 2019 – File: 01-0400-60-0006/2019 
 
 Re: Metro Vancouver – Board in Brief 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT the correspondence of Metro Vancouver, dated January 25, 2019, regarding the 
“Metro Vancouver – Board in Brief”, be received and filed. 
 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
REPORT 
 
*4. Amendment to 2017 Pedestrian and Roadway Lighting Implementation Capital Project 

Funding – File: 11-5460-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Traffic Engineer, January 30, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Traffic Engineer, dated January 30, 2019, entitled 
“Amendment to 2017 Pedestrian and Roadway Lighting Implementation Capital 
Project Funding”: 
 
THAT the funding approved in the 2017 Project Plan for Pedestrian and Roadway 
Lighting Implementation for design and construction of new streetlights on Bewicke 
Avenue from West 2nd Street to Marine Drive, be reallocated to design and 
construction of new street lights in the vicinity of the intersection of Chesterfield 
Avenue at West 2nd Street. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
DELEGATION 
 

Keegan Casidy, Member, North Shore Streamkeepers 
 

Re: Mosquito Creek Restoration Project 
 
The Environmental Technician and Keegan Casidy, Member, North Shore Streamkeepers, 
provided a PowerPoint presentation regarding the “Mosquito Creek Restoration Project” and 
responded to questions of Council. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
5. Keegan Casidy, Member, North Shore Streamkeepers, January 15, 2019 

– File: 01-0230-01-0001/2019 
 
 Re: Mosquito Creek Restoration Project 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 

 
THAT the correspondence from Keegan Casidy, Member, North Shore 
Streamkeepers, dated January 15, 2019, regarding the “Mosquito Creek Restoration 
Project”, be received with thanks. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

REPORT 
 
6. North Shore Streamkeepers Mosquito Creek Restoration Project 

– File: 11-5280-08-0001/2019 
 

Report: Environmental Technician, January 30, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Environmental Technician, dated January 30, 2019, 
entitled “North Shore Streamkeepers Mosquito Creek Restoration Project”: 
 
THAT funding up to a total of $10,000 (in-kind) be contributed towards the Mosquito 
Creek Restoration Project, consisting of $10,000 from the Stream Environmental 
Enhancement project within the approved 2019 Drainage Utility Budget; 
 
AND THAT Council provide a letter of support to the North Shore Streamkeepers for 
their grant application to the Pacific Salmon Foundation. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
DELEGATION 
 

Kim Selody, Artistic Director, and Andrea Loewen, Managing Director, Presentation 
House Theatre 

 
Re: Presentation House Theatre Update 

 
Kim Selody, Artistic Director, and Andrea Loewen, Managing Director, Presentation House 
Theatre, provided a PowerPoint presentation regarding the “Presentation House Theatre 
Update” and responded to questions of Council. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
7. Andrea Loewen, Managing Director, Presentation House Theatre, February 4, 2019 

– File: 01-0230-20-0062/2019 
 
 Re: Presentation House Theatre Update 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard 

 
THAT the correspondence from Andrea Loewen, Managing Director, Presentation 
House Theatre, dated February 4, 2019, regarding the “Presentation House Theatre 
Update”, be received with thanks. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

REPORTS 
 
8. Child Care Update and UBCM Grant Application – File: 10-4750-15-0001/1 
 

Report: Community Planner, January 30, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Community Planner, dated January 30, 2019, entitled 
“Child Care Update and UBCM Grant Application”: 

 
THAT Council direct staff to apply for the UBCM Community Child Care Planning 
program to complete a child care action plan and manage any funds received through 
this program. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
9. Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program – Harry Jerome Community Recreation 

Centre Application – File: 02-0800-30-0002/1 
 

Report: Director, Strategic Initiatives and Services, February 4, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Strategic Initiatives and Services, dated 
February 4, 2019, entitled “Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program – Harry Jerome 
Community Recreation Centre Application”: 
 
THAT Council direct staff to submit a grant application in the amount of 
$20 million for the Investing in Canada Infrastructure – Community, Culture and 
Recreation Program for the Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre; 
 
AND THAT Council support the project and commit to its share ($180 million) of the 
project. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
10. Rezoning Application: 2612 Lonsdale Avenue (Nor-Van Vliet Properties Ltd. / Ekistics 

Architecture) – File:  08-3360-20-0426/1 
 

Report: Development Planner, January 21, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Development Planner, dated January 21, 2019, 
entitled “Rezoning Application: 2612 Lonsdale Avenue (Nor-Van Vliet Properties Ltd. / 
Ekistics Architecture)”: 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8696” (Nor-Van 
Vliet Properties Ltd. / Ekistics Architecture, 2612 Lonsdale Avenue, CD-717) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

Continued… 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 6 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

REPORTS – Continued  
 
10. Rezoning Application: 2612 Lonsdale Avenue (Nor-Van Vliet Properties Ltd. / Ekistics 

Architecture) – File: 08-3360-20-0426/1 – Continued  
 

THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2019, No. 8697” (Nor-Van Vliet Properties Ltd. / 
Ekistics Architecture, 2612 Lonsdale Avenue, CD-717, Rental Housing Commitments) 
be considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
THAT the community benefits listed in the January 21, 2019 report in the section 
“Density Bonus and Community Benefits” be secured, through agreements at the 
applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Director of Planning; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 

DEFEATED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

THAT the application be referred back to staff, taking into consideration: 
 

• an increase in the number of 3-bedroom units; 
• energy efficiency improvements; 
• accessibility of the units; 
• setbacks; 
• reduction in height; 
• consideration of extending the 10-10-10 principle for additional units and 

number of years. 
CARRIED 

 
Councillor Back is recorded as voting contrary to the motion. 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT Items 11 and 12, “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 
8696” (Nor-Van Vliet Properties Ltd. / Ekistics Architecture, 2612 Lonsdale Avenue, 
CD-717) and “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2019, No. 8697” (Nor-Van Vliet Properties 
Ltd. / Ekistics Architecture, 2612 Lonsdale Avenue, CD-717, Rental Housing 
Commitments), be removed from the Agenda. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

2019-2028 Draft Preliminary Project Plan – Chief Administrative Officer and Deputy 
Director, Finance 

 
The Chief Administrative Officer and Deputy Director, Finance, provided a PowerPoint 
presentation regarding the “2019-2028 Draft Preliminary Project Plan” and responded to 
questions of Council. 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 7 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

REPORTS 
 
13. 2019-2028 Draft Preliminary Project Plan – File: 05-1705-30-0019/2019 
 

Report: Deputy Director, Finance, January 30, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Director, Finance, dated January 30, 2019, 
entitled “2019-2028 Draft Preliminary Project Plan”: 
 
THAT Council provide input on the 2019-2028 Draft Preliminary Project Plan; 
 
AND THAT the Project Plan be adjusted on the basis of feedback received and 
brought back at a subsequent meeting for consideration. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
14. Draft 2019 Program Plan – File: 05-1715-20-0002/2019 
 

Report: Deputy Director, Finance, January 29, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Director, Finance, dated January 29, 2019, 
entitled “Draft 2019 Program Plan”: 
 
THAT staff bring back an amended overall tax rate increase that reflects the feedback 
received from Council at the February 11, 2019 budget presentation; 
 
AND THAT the Draft 2019 Program Plan be adjusted on the basis of the feedback 
received and brought back to Council for consideration. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared a recess at 9:18 pm for the Public Clarification Period and 
reconvened the meeting immediately after. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
Nil. 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Nil. 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 8 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant to the 
Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(a) [personal information] and 90(1)(c) [employee 
relations]. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, at 9:19 pm and 
reconvened at 10:36 pm. 
 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
15. Personal Information / Employee Relations – File: 07-2685-01-0001/2019 

 
Report: City Clerk, February 5, 2019 

 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the City Clerk, dated February 5, 2019, regarding 
personal information / employee relations: 

 
THAT the action taken by the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, be ratified; 

 
AND THAT the wording of the recommendation and the report of the City Clerk, dated 
February 5, 2019, remain in the Closed session. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
16. Employee Relations – File: 07-2685-01-0001/2019 

 
Report: Chief Administrative Officer, February 8, 2019 

 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated February 8, 2019, 
regarding employee relations: 

 
THAT the action taken by the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, be ratified; 

 
AND THAT the wording of the recommendation and the report of the Chief 
Administrative Officer, dated February 8, 2019, remain in the Closed session. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 9 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of February 11, 2019 

ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
The meeting adjourned at 10:37 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the City Clerk” 
_________________ 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

RARE DISEASE DAY 
 
WHEREAS the Vancouver-based Rare Disease Foundation and its 

Parent2Parent Network is a forum for affected families that 
provides support, mentoring and the sharing of knowledge 
regardless of a child’s diagnosis; and 
 

WHEREAS the last day of February is recognized internationally as 
Rare Disease Day to increase awareness of rare diseases 
and their impact on peoples’ lives; and 
 

WHEREAS on February 28, 2019, communities worldwide will 
celebrate Rare Disease Day to show their support to 
researchers, volunteers and families in the ongoing 
collective fight against rare diseases; 
 

NOW THEREFORE I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, 
do hereby proclaim February 28, 2019 as RARE 
DISEASE DAY in the City of North Vancouver, the 
traditional territories of the Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh 
Nations. 

 
So proclaimed on Monday, February 25, 2019 

 

 
Mayor Linda Buchanan 

 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure 
Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500.” 
 

The time allotted for each speaker appearing before Council during the Public Input 
Period is two minutes, with the number of speakers set at five persons.  Speakers’ 
presentations will be audio and video recorded, as well as live-streamed on the Internet, 
and will form part of the public record. 
 

To make a submission to Council during the Public Input Period, a person must 
complete the Public Input Period sign-up sheet at City Hall prior to the Regular Council 
Meeting.  A person who fails to complete, or only partially completes, the Public Input 
Period sign-up sheet will not be permitted to make a submission to Council during the 
Public Input Period.  The sign-up sheet will be available on the table in the lobby outside 
the Council Chamber from 5:30 pm until 5:55 pm before a Council meeting. 
 

When appearing before Council, speakers are requested to state their name and 
address for the record.  Speakers may display materials on the document camera at the 
podium in the Council Chamber and provide written materials to the City Clerk for 
distribution to Council, only if these materials have been provided to the City Clerk by 
4:00 pm on the date of the meeting. 
 

The Public Input Period provides an opportunity for input only, without the expectation of 
a response from Council, and places the speaker’s concern on record. 
 

Speakers must comply with the General Rules of Conduct set out in section 5.1 of 
“Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak with respect to items as 
listed in section 12.25(2). 
 

Speakers are requested not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded 
Public Hearing/Public Meeting and to Public Hearings, Public Meetings and Committee 
meetings when those matters are scheduled on the same evening’s agenda and an 
opportunity for public input is provided when the particular item comes forward for 
discussion. 
 

Please address the Mayor as “Mayor, followed by his/her surname” or “Your Worship”.  
Councillors should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”. 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
3. Krystal Brennan, Wildcoast Ecological Society – Science, Restoration, Stewardship 

January 16, 2019 – File: 01-0230-01-0001/2019 
 
 Re: Science, Restoration, Stewardship 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the correspondence from Krystal Brennan, Wildcoast Ecological Society, 
dated January 16, 2019, regarding “Science, Restoration, Stewardship”, be 
received with thanks. 

 
  



Wildcoast Ecological Society
Science, Restoration, Stewardship

Krystal Brennan, Outreach Coordinator



Outline

● Introduction to Wildcoast

Ecological Society 

● Past North Shore Projects (2015-

2018)

● MacKay Creek Project

● Future Work



Ecological Restoration:

The process of assisting in the recovery of an ecosystem that has been 
degraded, damaged or destroyed



About Wildcoast Ecological Society

• Graduates of Ecological Restoration 
BSc from BCIT

• Involved with several restoration 
projects since 2015

• Formed Wildcoast Ecological 
Society in 2017

• Continue projects and partnerships



Past North Shore Projects 

• Seymour River and Estuary

• Lynn Creek and Estuary

•Cypress Provincial Park

•Cates Landing



MacKay Creek Estuary

•BCIT student project beginnings

•Partnered with CNV & Squamish 

Nation



MacKay Creek 
Estuary

• Invasive Removal

• Soil addition

•Native replanting

• Intertidal planting

• Log placement

•Geese deterrents



MacKay Creek Estuary

•Removing fish barriers



MacKay Creek - Moving upstream 

• Invasive removal

• Replanting 

• Nest boxes 



MacKay Surveys

• Higher chum and coho
salmon returns

•More different species of 
birds and higher numbers 
of birds

•Return of other wildlife 
species



Continuing Work

• Partnering in restoration

• Hosting volunteer events

•Delivering education presentations



Stakeholders



Thank you!





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
REPORT 
 
4. Flood Risk Assessment, Flood Mapping and Flood Mitigation Planning – UBCM 

Grant Application – File: 11-5210-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Design Engineer, Infrastructure, February 13, 2019 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Design Engineer, Infrastructure, dated February 
13, 2019, entitled “Flood Risk Assessment, Flood Mapping and Flood Mitigation 
Planning – UBCM Grant Application”: 
 
THAT Council support and endorse an application to the Union of British 
Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) – Community Emergency Preparedness Fund 
for a maximum total grant of $150,000. 

 
  



1
•—

/9(F
Division
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
ENGINEERING, PARKS AND ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: David Matsubara, Design Engineer - Infrastructure

SUBJECT: FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT, FLOOD MAPPING AND FLOOD 
MITIGATION PLANNING - UBCM GRANT APPLICATION

Date: February 13,2019 File No: 11-5210-01-0001/2019

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Please refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Design Engineer - Infrastructure, dated February 
13, 2019, entitled “Flood Risk Assessment, Flood Mapping and Flood Mitigation 
Planning - UBCM Grant Application”:

THAT Council support and endorse an application to the UBCM - Community 
Emergency Preparedness Fund for a maximum total grant of $150,000.

BACKGROUND:

In 2013, the City completed a joint study with the District of North Vancouver (District) to 
create floodplain mapping and examine bridge hydraulics on our three shared creeks: 
Lynn Creek, Mosquito Creek, and Mackay Creek. Since that study was completed, the 
City has continued to work with the District on flood mitigation and corridor enhancement 
activities along Mackay Creek as well as a North Shore wide sea-level rise risk planning 
exercise, both utilizing grant funding.

While these two projects have proceeded, there remain recommendations from the 2013 
engineering study for further investigation, most notably the Lynn Creek flood hazard 
management issue in the City and District.

Lynn Creek is the largest unregulated river on the North Shore and it delivers thousands 
of cubic metres of gravel to the section of stream adjacent to Lynnmouth Park every year.

Document Number: 1746033 VI



REPORT: Flood Risk Assessment, Flood Mapping and Flood Mitigation Planning - UBCM Grant Application
Date: February 13, 2019

There has been a long-standing program in the District to remove gravel from Lynn Creek 
intermittently based on levels of accumulation.

The first point of flood overtopping in Lynn Creek would occur on the low bank on the 
west side of Lynn Creek into the City - Lynnmouth Park area. This risk of flooding is 
intensified by the potential of floating debris jams on Cotton Road Bridge and large gravel 
movement and deposition during a flood. It is also anticipated that flood risk will worsen 
with future climate change, creating more intense rainfall events and sea level rise.

The District’s gravel removal activities have benefited both the City and District; however, 
these measures are temporary, they have become increasingly difficult given 
environmental constraints, and they cost several hundred thousand dollars every few 
years. One of the outcomes of the 2013 study was a recommendation to look at a 
collaborative approach to manage gravel (sediment) and flood risk in Lynn Creek.

DISCUSSION:

Staff proposes to apply to the Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) - 
Community Emergency Preparedness Fund under the Flood Risk Assessment, Flood 
Mapping and Flood Mitigation Planning program. UBCM is accepting applications for 
100% funded grants up to $150,000 to support flood mapping, risk assessment, and flood 
hazard mitigation. This application will be led by the City as the City would experience 
flooding first; however, the project would be in partnership with the District. The District 
is also considering a separate application for the Lynn Valley town centre area that 
experienced flooding in 2013. Staff will work with the District to prioritize these two 
applications, should the District bring an application forward.

The intent of the proposed project is to undertake an updated flood assessment analysis 
that can better assess the risk to the City and determine the most appropriate approach 
to provide flood protection along Lynn Creek for the future. Information from the study 
will help support the Hazard Lands Development Permit guidelines for this area, which is 
a current work item for staff. This information could be used to engage the insurance 
industry and better understand the role of insurance for overland floods and how that may 
affect local government responsibilities.

Currently, the District relies on a management plan for Lynn Creek from the early 2000s 
to provide guidance for the management of flood hazards in Lynn Creek. The City does 
not have a current plan. If the City is successful in receiving the grant award, this fully 
funded project would be conducted in partnership with the District and would enable the 
City to be better prepared to manage flood risk along Lynn Creek.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

If the City is awarded this grant, UBCM would be providing 100% project funding up to a 
total of $150,000 for the study. The intent of the plan would be to develop a project that 
would use expert consultants to conduct the study with a proposed scope that would not 
exceed $150,000.

Page 2 of 3



REPORT: Flood Risk Assessment, Flood Mapping and Flood Mitigation Planning - UBCM Grant Application
Date: February 13, 2019

The proposed study should not have an impact on 2019 or 2020 project funding. The 
project will not require additional staffing and should only require a modest commitment 
of existing staff time over a period of one year from the Engineering, Parks and 
Environment Department and Planning Department staff.

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS:

This report has been prepared though consultation with the Engineering, Parks and 
Environment and Finance Departments.

CORPORATE PLAN AND/OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS:

Emergency preparedness and public safety are core values in the City’s Official 
Community Plan, as described in the following objectives of Goals 3.2 and 3.3:

3.2.3 Ensure that there is the appropriate infrastructure and equipment to support 
the ability of public safety agencies to respond to the City’s evolving built 
form and land use pattern;

3.2.4 Avoid development in hazardous areas where there is a high potential or 
previous history of natural or human-made disaster;

3.3.1 Ensure that plans to increase resiliency to the impacts of natural and human 
made emergencies are tailored to individuals of all ages and abilities;

3.3.6 Develop and implement mitigation measures for vulnerable members of the 
population during extreme weather events.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

Design Engineer - Infrastructure

Page 3 of 3



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
REPORT 
 
5. Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence Application 

– File: 09-4320-50-0002/2019 
 

Report: Manager, Business Services, February 5, 2019 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Business Services, dated February 5, 
2019, entitled “Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence 
Application”: 
 
THAT the Food Primary Liquor Licence application for Joey Restaurant 
Shipyards, with a proposed 1:00 am Friday and Saturday closing time, be denied 
at this time, given the potential impact on adjacent residential uses. 

  



The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: L. R. Orr, Manager, Business Services

Subject: JOEY RESTAURANT SHIPYARDS FOOD PRIMARY LIQUOR LICENCE
APPLICATION

Date: February 5, 2019 File No: 09-4320-50-0002/2019

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Business Services, dated February 5, 
2019, entitled “Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence 
Application”:

THAT the Food Primary Liquor Licence application with a proposed 1:00 am Friday 
and Saturday closing time for Joey Restaurant Shipyards be denied at this time, 
given the potential impact on adjacent residential uses.

PURPOSE:

The purpose of this report is to seek Council input on a Food Primary Liquor Licence 
application received from the new Joey Restaurant Shipyards that includes proposed 
extended hours.

BACKGROUND:

Under the current provincial liquor licensing regulations, restaurants can apply for a 
Food Primary Liquor Licence to serve liquor up to midnight without the requirement for 
input from local government. For liquor service beyond midnight, provincial licensing 
regulations provide the opportunity for local government input (local government also

Document Number: 1738087 V1



REPORT: Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence Application
Date: February 5, 2019

'has tyie option to opt out of providing input if there are no issues anticipated). If the local 
,>giav^'nment chooses to provide comments, they are required to seek public input.

The new Joey Restaurant Shipyards has applied to the Liquor and Cannabis Regulation 
Branch for a Food Primary Liquor Licence with extended hours until 1:00 am on Fridays 
and Saturdays. Liquor service for Sunday to Thursday will be to midnight.

The location of the Joey Restaurant is at the south-east corner of Lot 5 in The 
Shipyards at the corner of South and East Wallace Mews (see subject site identified by 
the red box in the photo below). The two-story restaurant is located below the new 
Executive Hotel and across East Wallace Mews from the new Pinnacle condo building, 
The Cascade at the Pier. The restaurant will have 2 south-facing patios on the main and 
second levels.

Public Input

In accordance with the provincial government recommendation for public consultation 
on liquor licence applications and changes, staff posted signage on the south and east 
facing construction fencing, adjacent to the Joey Restaurant location on Lot 5, from 
January 3 to 21,2019 to seek public input regarding the proposed extended hours. 
Fourteen emails in opposition and 5 e-mails of support were received regarding the 
proposed extended hours.

Those opposed to the extended hours cited the potential impact on area residents with 
noisy patrons leaving the restaurant late at night. The new Executive Hotel owners 
provided one of the letters of support, but indicated that the extended hours should not 
apply to the outdoor patios. For Council’s information, in accordance with City policy, 
patios must close at 11:00 pm. Staff are also working with Joey Restaurants to 
encourage design elements to help reduce noise from the 2 patios affecting the hotel 
and residential building to the east.

Some of the emails received suggested consideration of this application to be 
postponed until the Cascade building was occupied so new owners could have an

Page 2 of 5



REPORT: Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence Application
Date: February 5, 2019

opportunity to comment. For Council’s information, occupancy of the Cascade has 
already begun and it is approximately 30% occupied.

As Council is aware, in addition to restaurants, shops and a hotel, The Shipyards is an 
active event space that will become more lively over time, with the appointment of a 
Central Waterfront Team that will be actively programming the space year round.
Events in The Shipyards are currently governed by the Shipbuilders Square Events and 
Rental Policy, which requires events to finish by 10:00 pm Sunday to Thursday and 
11:00 pm Friday and Saturday. Exemptions to the closing time can be granted by 
Council on a case by case basis.

There are currently a number of restaurants in the vicinity with Food Primary Liquor 
Licences that have provincial approval to serve liquor past midnight, including:

• Tap and Barrel Shipyards (to 1:00 am Friday, Saturday and holidays)
• Cheshire Cheese (to 1:00 am Monday - Saturday)
• Colosseum Pizza (to 2:00 am Monday - Saturday)
• The District (to 1:00 am Monday - Saturday)
• Raglan’s Bistro (to 1:00 am Monday - Sunday)
• Gusto Di Quattro (to 2:00 am Monday - Sunday)
• Anatoli Souvlaki (to 1:00 am Monday - Saturday)
• Finch and Barley (to 1:00 am Monday - Saturday)
• Mythos (to 2:00 am Monday - Saturday)
• Boston Pizza (to 1:00 am Monday - Saturday)
• Yahachi Sushi (to 1:00 am Monday - Saturday)

The later serving hours at these restaurants has not been a concern.

It should be noted that under current Liquor Licensing regulations, patrons are allowed 
to stay 30 minutes after last call, which occurs just before the approved end serving 
time (e.g. 1:30 am if the licence allows service to 1:00 am.)

DISCUSSION:

OPTIONS:

1. Deny the extended hours at this time - Recommended

Although the long-standing vision approved by Council for The Shipyards is a 
vibrant waterfront destination and gathering place for people with a mix of retail, 
restaurants, accommodation (hotel and residential) and events, staff believe 
extended hours on Friday and Saturday nights could potentially be a problem for 
adjacent residents. As Council will have noted, 14 out of the 19 responses 
received from the public opposed the extended hours. While there may not be a 
problem resulting from the extended hours, staff recommend that the Joey 
Restaurant Shipyards operate for a year with a midnight closure to see if there are 
any operational issues. If there are no issues after one year, they could apply for 
a change to their liquor licence hours. This would allow Council to consider the

Page 3 of 5



REPORT: Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence Application
Date: February 5, 2019

application with a year of operational information and, as such, be in a better 
position to gauge the suitability of extended hours.

Staff will also continue to work with the applicant to identify noise mitigating 
measures for the outdoor dining, given its proximity to the hotel and residential 
uses and good neighbour operational practices.

If Council agrees with this option, a proposed motion would be:

THAT the Food Primary Liquor Licence application with a proposed 1:00 am 
Friday and Saturday closing time for Joey Restaurant Shipyards be denied at this 
time, given the potential impact on adjacent residential uses;

2. Approve the extended hours with conditions - Not recommended

If Council feels the application for extended hours is consistent with the vision for 
The Shipyards as noted above, but have some concerns about the potential for 
impact on adjacent residents, an option would be to approve the application with 
conditions to help mitigate potential issues.

Although not recommended by staff, should Council prefer this option, a proposed 
motion would be:

THAT the proposed Food Primary Liquor Licence application with a 1:00 am 
Friday and Saturday closing time for Joey Restaurant Shipyards be approved, 
subject to the following conditions to be placed on the Business Licence and/or 
the Outdoor Dining Permit:

• That signage be posted in conspicuous locations to advise restaurant 
patrons to be respectful of neighbours when leaving the premises;

• That the outdoor patios be closed at 11:00 pm in accordance with existing 
policy;

• That music on the patios be turned off at 9:00 pm;
• That sound barriers and other noise mitigating measures be added to the 

patios to reduce the potential for impact on adjacent residential and hotel 
uses; and

• That restaurant staff be trained to mitigate potential impacts of patrons 
leaving the restaurant later in the evening.

3. Postpone consideration of this application until the Cascade residential building to 
the east is fully occupied and new residents can be canvassed - Not
Recommended

Given that the Cascade building is already occupied with a current occupancy of 
approximately 30%, staff do not believe that delaying consideration of the 
application to allow Cascade residents to comment will necessarily result in any 
different information than has already been gathered.

Page 4 of 5



REPORT: Joey Restaurant Shipyards Food Primary Liquor Licence Application
Date: February 5, 2019

Although not recommended by staff, should Council prefer this option, a proposed 
motion would be:

THAT consideration of the Food Primary Liquor Licence application by Joey 
Restaurant Shipyards with a proposed 1:00 am Friday and Saturday closing time 
be postponed until such time as residents of the Cascade building have an 
opportunity to comment on the application.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

There are no financial implications resulting from this report.

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS:

The recommendation in this report was supported by the Civic Projects Team at their 
February 12, 2019 meeting.

CORPORATE PLAN AND/OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS:

The long-standing vision approved by Council for The Shipyards is a waterfront 
destination and gathering place for people with a mix of retail, restaurants, 
accommodation (hotel and residential) and events. The Joey Restaurant Shipyards will 
no doubt contribute to this vision, but consideration should also be given to residents in 
the area. Limiting the hours of operation of Joey Restaurant Shipyards will help balance 
the different interests.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
L. R. Orr <xy
Manager, Business Services

LRO/ls

Page 5 of 5



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
REPORT 
 
6. Proposed Resolution – 2019 Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) 

– File: 13-6410-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Director, Planning, February 6, 2019 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning, dated February 6, 2019, 
entitled “Proposed Resolution – 2019 Union of British Columbia Municipalities 
(UBCM)”: 
 
THAT Council endorse the resolution in the report calling for reform of 
development finance tools to be submitted for consideration by the UBCM 
Resolutions Committee at the 2019 convention.  

 
  



/t IM-
Division
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Michael D. Epp, Director, Planning

Subject: PROPOSED 2019 UNION OF BRITISH COLUMBIA MUNICIPALITIES
(UBCM) RESOLUTION

Date: February 6, 2019 File No: 13-6410-01-0001/2019

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning dated February 6, 2019, 
entitled “Proposed 2019 Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) 
Resolution”;

THAT Council endorse the resolution in this report calling for reform of 
development finance tools to be submitted for consideration by the UBCM 
Resolutions Committee at the 2019 convention.

PURPOSE

To present a proposed resolution at UBCM for Council consideration and decision.

BACKGROUND

The Union of BC Municipalities’ (UBCM) annual resolutions process provides a forum for 
local governments from across the province to express concerns and develop united 
positions. Local governments are encouraged to submit resolutions for consideration by 
regional Area Associations at their annual meeting. The deadline to submit resolutions to 
the Area Association - the Lower Mainland Local Government Association (LMLGA) - is 
March 15th. Resolutions endorsed by the LMLGA would be submitted to the Union of BC 
Municipalities (UBCM) for consideration in September.

Document Number: 1748052 V1



REPORT: Proposed 2019 Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) Resolution
Date: February 6, 2019

This report presents a proposed resolution for Council’s consideration.

DISCUSSION

Development finance has evolved into a complex area for local governments - community 
needs arising from new development have been addressed through senior government 
grants, Development Cost Charges, and contributions through rezoning (CACs), among 
other means. These tools, however, were designed primarily to meet needs arising from 
‘greenfield’ development on the urban fringes and do not adequately address the needs 
of urban municipalities like the City of North Vancouver, where all development activity is 
intensification of existing sites (i.e. ‘infill’).

The topic of funding urban development was last comprehensively reviewed by the 
Ministry of Municipal affairs in 1995. The proposed resolution presents the position that a 
comprehensive review of the systems for funding growth-related infrastructure and 
amenities is needed and would result in better outcomes to help address transit and 
housing related funding gaps. A comprehensive approach to development finance should 
be enacted to reduce municipalities’ reliance on the rezoning process to achieve desired 
outcomes. Reform of these tools would assist in addressing urgent housing by 
empowering municipalities to increase the zoned capacity for development without the 
complexities and time required for site-specific rezoning.

The following resolution is suggested to encourage the province to revisit these tools, in 
consultation with municipalities:

WHEREAS existing tools for funding community amenities and infrastructure 
enhancements, including Development Cost Charges, are inflexible and were not 
designed for urban municipalities in addressing contemporary issues including provision 
of affordable housing and transit enhancements;

WHEREAS the shortcomings of existing mechanisms for extracting amenities and 
contributions from new development has resulted in a patchwork of ad hoc systems and 
approaches which differ by local government and require lengthy site-by-site 
negotiations and rezonings to implement;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED

THAT the Province be requested to comprehensively review existing funding 
mechanisms for financing growth and amenities including Development Cost Charges 
and consider introducing new tools with which municipalities can ensure new 
development is aligned with community objectives and contribute to a livable region, with 
such considerations to include introducing a consistent approach to land value capture 
and amenity charges which does not rely on negotiations through rezoning.

Page 2 of 3



REPORT: Proposed 2019 Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) Resolution
Date: February 6, 2019

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Reform of the provincially enabled tools in the Local Government Act which municipalities 
rely on to fund community enhancements and plan for growth would have a positive 
financial impact. A rigorous set of tools suited for in-fill development would better serve 
the City in its financial planning.

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

The resolution in this report was reviewed by the Leadership Team on February 5, 2019.

CORPORATE PLAN AND/OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS

The City’s Official Community Plan and Housing Action Plan include actions to pursue 
broad advocacy to senior governments in order to achieve housing and other community 
objectives. The proposed resolution would support this advocacy work.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
Michael Epp 
Director, Planning

ME:eb

Page 3 of 3



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
REPORT 
 
7. Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 

333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment) – File: 08-3360-20-0395/1 
 

Report: Director, Planning, February 12, 2019 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning, dated February 12, 2019, 
entitled “Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food 
Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment)”:  
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8549” 
(Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment) 
be considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
AND THAT the Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy L30A be amended to exclude 
wine sales from distance criteria, consistent with provincial policy and as outlined 
in Attachment #7 of the report.  

 
  



UK
Division
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Michael D. Epp, Director, Planning

Subject: ZONING BYLAW TEXT AMENDMENT: WINE STORE USE
(OVERWAITEA FOOD GROUP, 333 BROOKSBANK AVENUE, CD-131 
TEXT AMENDMENT)

Date: February 12,2019 File No: 08-3360-20-0395/1

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning, dated February 12, 2019, 
entitled “Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food 
Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment)”:

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8549” 
(Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment) 
be considered and referred to a Public Hearing;

AND THAT the Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy L30A be amended to exclude 
wine sales from distance criteria, consistent with provincial policy and as outlined 
in Attachment #7 to said report.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Context Map (#1508022)
2. Wine Store Rationale and Developer Information Summary Report (#1489898)
3. Input Received (#1508137)
4. “Provincial Liquor Licensing Regulation” Report Outlining Prior Resolutions and 

Applicable Regulations (#1731089)
5. Liquor Control Policy Committee Presentation (#1731091)

Document Number: 1731037 V1



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank
Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment
Date: February 12, 2019

6. L30A City’s Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy (#1471665)
7. L30A Proposed Revision (#1737957)
8. Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 8549 (#1507819)

PURPOSE:

The purpose of this report is to present for Council’s consideration a rezoning application 
to amend the text of the CD-131 Zone in order to permit one wine sales use on the site.

On February 18, 2016, the provincial government announced that it would permit the sale 
of wine on grocery store shelves. Pursuant to this, the City received an application from 
Overwaitea Food Group in 2016 to rezone 333 Brooksbank Avenue to allow wine sales. 
The City’s Zoning Bylaw requires rezoning for all proposed or relocated Licensed Liquor 
Facilities with the exception of Food Primary Licences (restaurant).

This application was previously considered for introduction and first reading on March 27, 
2017. At this time Council resolved:

PURSUANT to the report of the Planning Technician, dated March 22,
2017, entitled “Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use 
(Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text 
Amendment)”:

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2017, No. 8549 
(Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text 
Amendment)” be referred back to staff.

On June 19, 2017 Council considered the application for a second time and resolved: 

THAT Item 33 be referred back to staff.

Staff are now bringing this application forward for Council direction. Policy implications 
and options are outlined in this report.

DISCUSSION:

Site Context and Zoning

The proposed use would be located within the existing Save on Foods grocery store at 
unit 600-333 Brooksbank Avenue in the Park and Tilford Shopping Centre (Attachment 
#1). The site is designated Commercial in the Official Community Plan and is zoned 
Comprehensive Development 131 (CD-131), which permits a variety of uses including 
retail services; restaurants; office space; and one retail outlet with sale and distribution of 
packaged liquor and alcohol. With one liquor sales outlet already present on site (The 
Gull Liquor Store), a rezoning is required in order to permit an additional retail liquor sales 
use.

Page 2 of 7



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank
Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment
Date: February 12, 2019

The area is industrial and commercial in nature with adjacent uses outlined in Table 1 
below.

Table 1. Existing Zoning for Properties Adjacent to 333 Brooksbank Avenue
Zoning Use

East(2) CD-205 Industrial uses and accessory non-industrial
use such as offices, retail sales, display areas, 
and offices; child care facility

East (3) CD-187 Industrial Business Park Use and Service
Commercial Use

East (4) M-3 Special Industrial
East (5) CD-604 Industrial use; Retail Service Group 1; Child

Care
West_______________jVPS_________ Special Industrial_________________________

In the past, 333 Brooksbank has had two stores that serve the community regarding wine 
and liquor sales. Liberty Wine Merchants is a private specialty wine retailer that was 
located on-site at 333 Brooksbank from 1988 to 2016 (prior to moving to 1308 Lonsdale 
Avenue). The other store on site is the Gull Liquor Store, which is categorized as a 
Licensee Retail Store (LRS). Wine Store licenses were previously governed by the Liquor 
Distribution Board (LDB) and no municipal approvals were required.

Development Proposal

Overwaitea Food Group has made an application to amend the text of the CD-131 zone 
to permit one retail wine sales use (Attachment #7). The wine would be sold in aisles at 
the Save on Food grocery store with the exclusive sale of 100% BC VQA Wine. 
Overwaitea Food Group’s rationale for the development application is outlined in 
Attachment #2.

Policy Implications

The Province does not apply any limiting distance separating retail wine sales (Wine Store 
Licence or wine on shelf). However, the Province applies a separation of one kilometre 
between Licensee Retail Stores (LRSs), which are permitted to sell a wider variety of 
alcoholic products.

Council Policy L30A, “Retail Liquor Sales Location,” was adopted by Council in 
September 2016 and establishes criteria for evaluating applications for new liquor sales 
(Attachment #6). Policy L30A seeks a one-kilometre separation between all retail liquor 
establishments, including wine sales. The adopted policy’s separation distance criterion 
result has the effect of restricting any new retail liquor sales in the City. Additional 
background presented prior to the creation of Policy L30A is included in Attachment #5 
to this report.

Page 3 of 7



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank
Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment
Date: February 12, 2019

The application for wine sales at 333 Brooksbank Avenue was in received status during 
the development of the Policy L30A and had been placed in temporary abeyance as per 
previous Council direction. This temporary hold was lifted when Council adopted the L30A 
policy to establish location criteria. The application is /'nco/is/stenf with the one-kilometre 
separation criteria within Policy L30A. The L30A policy seeks to evaluate new proposals 
based on a number of criteria to ensure their impacts are limited: the proposal meets 
these criteria.

The City’s Official Community Plan includes the following economic policies to support 
existing businesses and expand job opportunities in the Frequent Transit Development 
Areas (FTDAs):

7.1.1 Support existing businesses in the City and encourage innovation and the 
development of small businesses;

7.2.2 Increase the concentration of jobs in the Lonsdale Regional City Centre 
and Frequent Transit Development Areas, supporting the area as the North 
Shore’s business and service core;

The application is consistent with these policies and is anticipated to result in a net gain 
of jobs in the community within an FTDA.

A brief summary of prior Council resolutions relating to retail liquor policy is included as 
Attachment #4 to this report.

Planning Analysis

The proposal was reviewed for its potential to result in land use conflicts or contribute to 
social impacts. A wine store in this location is not anticipated to result in significant 
community impacts given:

• the site previously had a wine retail store for 28 years, which recently moved (2016) 
and which was not known to have resulted in conflict;

• the area for selling wine on shelf is three percent of the space within the grocery 
store;

• the product range is limited (Attachment #2);
• the location is near two parks, however, given the parks are not sited near the 

entrance of the grocery store, the sale of alcohol at the grocery store is not 
anticipated to have a significant impact on the park users, nor is the existing retail 
liquor store on site known to generate issues at the parks.

The wine-in-aisles would take up approximately 117 square metres (1,260 square feet) 
of public licensed area of a store that has a total gross floor area of 6,872 square metres 
(73,970 square feet).

While not anticipated to result in adverse community impacts, the proposal is inconsistent 
with the one kilometre limiting distance established by Policy L30A, given the presence 
of an existing LRS on site.

Page 4 of 7



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank
Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment
Date: February 12, 2019

Community Consultation

As required by City policy, signs were posted on site at the time of the application and a 
Developer Information Session (DIS) was held on January 10, 2017. This session was 
attended by approximately 100 community members and 79 feedback forms were 
received (Attachment #2). On the feedback forms, there were 76 people in support of the 
application for wine on shelf sales and two people in opposition of the rezoning 
application. The main concerns involved the potential for close proximity to the existing 
liquor store, the sale of wine to minors and the price of the wine being sold. Members who 
were in support of the project cited the convenience of purchasing groceries and wine 
together as well as support for local businesses and producers.

The project also received comments from Vancouver Coastal Health in opposition of the 
sale of wine in grocery stores as well as a letter of opposition from the Gull Liquor Store 
(Attachment #3).

Advisory Body Input

The proposal was reviewed by the Advisory Planning Commission on March 8, 2017, 
resulting in the following resolution:

THAT the Advisory Planning Commission has reviewed the proposed Rezoning Text 
Amendment to Comprehensive Development-131 to allow wine-on-shelf sales at the 
Save-On-Foods grocery store at 333 Brooksbank Avenue and recommends approval.

Carried Unanimously

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

None.

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS:

This application was subject to an inter-departmental review with comments and this 
report was reviewed and endorsed by the Civic Projects Team at their January 8, 2019 
meeting.

OPTIONS:

Option A. Proceed to Public Hearing and Amend the Retail Liquor Sales Location 
Policy (Recommended)

The Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy L30A was established by Council in 2016. One 
of the identified criteria under the L30A policy is that a one kilometre limiting distance be 
applied to new retail liquor sales locations from any existing retail liquor sales location.

Page 5 of 7



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank
Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment
Date: February 12, 2019

This policy applies this criteria regardless of whether the sales are within an LRS, wine 
store or wine on shelf. Given the compact nature of the community, there are no areas of 
the City which are zoned for commercial use which are not within one kilometre of an 
existing licensed sales location (see Attachment #5). The Provincial Government has 
established a one kilometre limiting distance between LRSs, but does not have a limiting 
distance between wine stores or wine on shelf as there are a limited number of Provincial 
licences available. There is a provincial moratorium on new wine store licences; new wine 
stores can only be created by purchasing an existing licence and relocating it.

This option would direct staff to amend the established Policy L30A to reflect Provincial 
policy: applying a limiting distance to LRSs, but not to wine sales. A rezoning would 
continue to be required for any new retail liquor sales, giving Council full control over this 
use. Attachment #7 indicates the revisions to L30A which would be required to institute 
this change.

The application for a wine sales use at 333 Brooksbank would be referred to a Public 
Hearing. Should Council wish to pursue this option the recommendation in this report is 
in order.

Option B. Proceed to Public Hearing

This option would refer the proposal to a Public Hearing without an amendment to the 
L30A Policy. A Hearing would provide an opportunity for the applicant to present their 
rationale and for those who believe they may be affected by the decision to provide input.

The application is inconsistent with one of the criteria within Council established Policy 
L30A (which institutes a one kilometre limiting distance between all liquor sales). The 
limiting distance is one criteria for evaluation and Council may opt to proceed with this 
application on its merits regardless of its inconsistency with this aspect of the policy.

Should Council wish to pursue this option, the second active clause in this report’s 
recommendation should be removed.

Option C. Reject the Application

Council may reject an application at any point. This application was received in 2016 and 
Council is obligated to consider the application. Should Council wish to reject the 
application on the basis that it is inconsistent with the one kilometre separation for liquor 
sales outlined in Policy L30A, or for other reasons, Council could defeat the Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw and move:

THAT the application from Overwaitea Food Group to permit the addition of a 
wine sales use at 333 Brooksbank be rejected.

Page 6 of 7



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment: Wine Store Use (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank
Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment
Date: February 12, 2019

Should Council reject the application, no re-application would be permitted for a one-year 
period.

This option would uphold Council’s previously adopted policy (L30A) and would respond 
to the advice of the Medical Health Officer (Attachment #3) indicating that there is 
evidence to suggest that the sale of alcohol in grocery stores has the potential to 
adversely impact health by increasing convenience and reducing the cost of alcohol which 
may result in increased alcohol consumption. The proponent’s rationale (Attachment #2) 
includes their perspective and response to these potential impacts.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
Mi
Director, Planning

ME:eb

Page 7 of 7



Lynnmouth
Park

Sunrise
Park

High
Place
Park

Cloverley
Park

ville
k

Lots
24/W, BL9,

DL272 E 5th St

E 3rd St

E 4th St

Cotton Rd

Low Level Rd

Shavington St

Context Map: 333 Brooksbank Ave
Subject Site
Legal_Parcels
Legal_Parcels

Aerial 2016
RGB

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



Wine in Grocery Aisle Application 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Park & Tilford Save-On-Foods 
600 – 333 Brooksbank Avenue, 

North Vancouver, BC 



2 | P a g e  
 

  



3 | P a g e  
 

 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Purpose & Background ........................................................................................................................................... 5 

Park & Tilford Trade Area ...................................................................................................................................... 6 

Context Map and Neighboring Areas ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Store Site Plans for BC VQA Wine Store .............................................................................................................. 8 

Competitive Assessment ....................................................................................................................................... 10 

Social Impacts ....................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Economic Impacts ................................................................................................................................................. 11 

Provincial Government Support ........................................................................................................................... 12 

Developer Information Session............................................................................................................................. 15 

Development Information Session Summary ................................................................................................... 16 

Facilitators’ Impressions from Development Information Session .................................................................. 18 

Event Details ..................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Development Information Session .................................................................................................................... 20 

Event ................................................................................................................................................................. 20 

Communications & Information Provided........................................................................................................ 20 

Development Information Session Site Signs............................................................................................... 21 

Developer Information Session Newspaper Ad ............................................................................................ 22 

Development Information Session Notice Handout ..................................................................................... 24 

Delivery Map and Confirmation Sheets ....................................................................................................... 25 

Development Information Session Bag Stuffer ............................................................................................ 27 

Development Information Session Presentation (Steve Moriarty) ............................................................... 28 

Various 22” x 28” Posters for Information / Viewing .................................................................................. 37 

Wine Signage ................................................................................................................................................ 38 

BC Wine Institute 2016 Fiscal Highlights (Handout)................................................................................... 46 

BC Wine Economy & Canada’s Wine Economy (Handouts) ...................................................................... 47 

Alcohol Sense Posters ................................................................................................................................... 48 

Development Information Open House Sign In Sheets .................................................................................... 50 

Development Information Open House Questionnaires ................................................................................... 55 

Contacts............................................................................................................................................................... 134 

 
  



4 | P a g e  
 

This page intentionally left blank  



5 | P a g e  
 

Executive Summary 
 
Save on Foods currently operates four locations on the North Shore, and has been an active and engaged part of the North 
Shore communities since 1984. Our stores have employed thousands of team members, contributed continuously to the 
communities they serve and proudly support activities that provide a benefit to all residents of the North Shore. 
 
With the changes to the provincial regulations now allowing regulated sales of 100% locally produced British Columbia 
VQA wines on regular grocery shelves.  We know that our customers are very excited to have this opportunity in our 
store.  There are currently eight (8) Save On Foods locations carrying BC VQA Wines in them and we have had and 
overwhelming positive response from our customers in those communities. 
 
Save on Foods plans to move an existing license location formally located in Edgemont Village, DBA Edgemont Wines 
into our Park and Tilford Save On Foods Location. This BC VQA wine store location will not add any additional retail 
wine or alcohol sales locations to the North Shore... This keeps the total at a net zero total impact.  We are not asking to 
bring in a “New” license into North Vancouver; we have an “existing” BC VQA license. 
 
Simply put, customers are very supportive, the Provincial Government has passed regulations to allow BC VQA wineries 
to have access to sales on grocery store shelves, small business is not adversely impacted, wine is sold safely, positive 
economic impacts are created, tourism increases and proud British Columbia farmers are rewarded. 
 
 

Purpose & Background 
 
Request a bylaw text amendment that will allow us to transfer the existing Edgemont Wines 100% BC VQA 
Wine Only license into our Park & Tilford Save On Foods location.   
 
Our target customer base is our existing Save On Foods customers. 
 

 Currently Save On Foods operates eight(11) ‘Wines of British Columbia@ Save On Foods’ operations in the 
following communities: 

o South Surrey 
o Kelowna (2) 
o Tsawwassen 
o East Maple Ridge 
o Fleetwood Surrey  
o Langley 

o Parksville 
o Prince George 
o White Rock 
o Kamloops 

 
 

 Immediate plans are to open more locations, in Victoria, Penticton. More locations are planned throughout the 
province and are at various stages. 

 
o All of these stores are being converted from an existing VQA wine store operating with only the sale 

of 100% BC VQA Wine 
 

 Save On Foods is the only current retailer offering Wine in a grocery store concept 
 

 
  



6 | P a g e  
 

Park & Tilford Trade Area 
 

 Population =50,099 
 Trade Area Liquor Retailers (including Save On Foods) = 7 Stores 
 Population per Liquor Retailer Ratio 50,099 / 4000 = 12.5 store potential 
 Additional Trade Area Daytime Employee Population = 14,313 people 
 Total Store square footage 73,970.  Proposed Wine department Square Footage 2,212 

 

 

Context Map and Neighboring Areas 
 

 
 



7 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
Context map outlying the surrounding zoning   



8 | P a g e  
 

Store Site Plans for BC VQA Wine Store 
 
 

 
 

 Total Store Square Footage = 73,970 sq ft 
 Wines of British Columbia @ Save On Food planned square footage = 2,212 

o Percentage allocated to wine department = 3% 
 There are a total of 784 parking stalls in the Park and Tilford development for the customers of the 

commercial businesses.  
 There is little, if any, anticipated growing traffic due to this expansion 



9 | P a g e  
 

Store Floor Plan and Wine Design Rendering

 
 

 



10 | P a g e  
 

Competitive Assessment 
 
Park & Tilford Shopping Centre Mall 

 Save on Foods plans to move an existing license location formally located in Edgemont Village, DBA 
Edgemont Wines into our Park and Tilford Location. This does not add any additional retail wine or alcohol 
sales locations to the North Shore... This keeps the total at a net zero total. 

 
 The license we have is for sale of 100% Certified BC VQA wine only. 
 
 Recent customer surveys indicate an overwhelming response of support that consumers are allowed to 

purchase 100% locally produced British Columbia VQA Wines. Our customers in Park and Tilford have 
clearly shared their enthusiasm for adding wine to the regular store offering. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 The sale of 100% Locally produced British Columbia Wines restrict the amount of products for sale in the 

grocery location, comparably these products are represented in Private liquor stores as less than 5% of total 
average gross sales. Where that allows for more than 95% of the sales in these stores to be represented by 
other liquor products. 
 

 Most private Liquor retailers carry less than 1/5 the variety that Save On Foods sells. In fact the majority of 
the wines that Save On Foods sells are not available in most if any private liquor retailers 

 
 The mix available at the Private Liquor Stores contains a very large selection of refrigerated beer, cider, wines 

and coolers.  The intension of this is for immediate consumption. 
 
 This format allows for the sale of a large number of small and boutique wineries not found in either the GLS 

or LRS Stores. 
 

Wine and Liquor Stores in the Park and Tilford Area 
 

 Previously the Park and Tilford site provided two locations for the sale of wine, one was adjacent to the 
store and sold wines as Liberty wines, another was also adjacent and sells wine along with a full range of 
Alcohol as a private liquor store. Liberty left the location in 2015 and Liberty wines are locating to a Whole 
Foods adjacency on Lonsdale and the private liquor store has expanded and moved across the parking lot. 

 
 Liberty Wine Store and the Gull Liquor Store have run successful businesses in the same complex for more 

than 28 years with the proximity of their location deemed to be one of the “closest” in the province (within 
150 feet of each other).   

o This success was largely because they catered to a very different clientele. Liberty Wines operated 
under a “Wine Only” restriction.  This restriction includes international wines as well as domestic and 
non VQA varieties. 

 The License we propose to bring into the Save On Food on grocery shelf in-aisle is an even more restrictive 
license than the Liberty Wine license, the intended license is for only 100% British Columbia VQA Wine. 

o Save On Foods is a very strong Local Supporter and the BC VQA Wine is a premium local product that 
fits our core business value of supporting “Local”. 

o A large portion of the BC VQA Wines we carry are not available in any other retail outlet other than 
directly from the winery. 

The BC VQA Wine Licenses are a very specialized group of licenses that provide a unique niche market for the 

BC wine producers (our Local Farmers).  These are often very small farmers and producers who have no other 

avenue for selling their products other than at their own wineries.  This specialized product mix will have little 

to no impact to government/private liquor stores who provide a wide mix of popular hard alcohol, beer, ciders 

and wines including international and non VQA product. 



11 | P a g e  
 

 

Social Impacts 
 
 Save On Foods has a simple concept that supports the sale of wine their grocery store... 
 

o To retail wine Safely, To retail wine Morally, To retail wine Ethically. 
 

 Save on Foods has an industry leading, solid and reliable security plan that supports all provincially mandated 
requirements, laws and regulations in order to meet LCLB inspectors, auditors and RCMP. 
 

 The security plan details an enormous amount of prevention practices, reporting mechanisms, training and 
orientations, social awareness and social responsibilities. 

 
o Wines of British Columbia @ Save On Foods is prepared to share our unique and detailed Security 

plan in a forum that respects the security of the plan in a review to ensure that compliance and support 
mechanisms are addressing concerns and issues. 

 
 Save on Foods has now been retailing wine in grocery for more than one year, with no recorded incidents or 

infractions. 
 
 Preventing underage purchasing, ID verification, theft prevention and high risk customers are dealt within a 

professional and detailed process. 
 
 Wines of British Columbia @ Save On Foods locations are; inspected, audited and reviewed by the same 

Special Constable LCLB inspectors, RCMP Officers, Resource Protection Specialists that inspect any other 
licensed retailer, or supplier of alcohol in British Columbia like… nightclubs, private liquor stores, 
government liquor stores, pubs, restaurants, golf courses and the likes. 

 
 Wines of British Columbia @ Save on Foods takes the social responsibility component seriously, the 

expectation that all of the team members will complete the Government sponsored and required ‘Serving  IT 
Right” course… as well including our very own licensed professional health care providers as our social 
conscience, that prove we are proud of our commitment. 

Economic Impacts 
 

 The risk of financial impact is regarded as to any Government Liquor stores or LRS stores as we are moving an 
existing BC VQA wine license that was located in North Vancouver DBA Edgemont Wines (located at 3050 
Edgemont Boulevard)   

 
 The VQA license provides consistent opportunity for all 100% locally Produced British Columbia VQA wineries 

with a viable location to sell more of their BC farmed products. Today more than half the wineries sold in Save 
On Foods are unique.  

o Essentially….these are farm to table licenses created to stimulate the British Columbia agriculture 
component through winery sales.   

o Establish an economical access channel.  Allowing any VQA winery shelf space. 
 

 Each and every bottle of locally produced 100% BC VQA wine sold in British Columbia contributes more than 
$42 worth of economic activity.  
 

 Totaling more than $2 billion per year the industry contributes significantly to our economic strength provincially. 
 

 The proposed VQA Wine license will support the addition of jobs to the City of North Vancouver.  The sale of 
BC VQA wine is done through “hand selling” and food pairing by wine our wine advisors. 



12 | P a g e  
 

Provincial Government Support



13 | P a g e  
 



14 | P a g e  
 

  



15 | P a g e  
 

Developer Information Session 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  



16 | P a g e  
 

Development Information Session Summary 
 
The Overwaitea Food Group and Save-On-Foods (the Company) has submitted a Rezoning Application to 
amend Comprehensive Development Zone 131 (CD-131) to permit one Wine Store Licence within the building 
located at unit 600 – 333 Brooksbank Avenue. 
 
On January 10, 2017, the company hosted a Developer Information Session at the Holiday Inn North Vancouver 
at 700 Old Lillooet Road, North Vancouver.  This Development Information Session was a meeting where 
interested members of the public were given the opportunity to learn about, ask questions and respond to the 
application. 
 
There were approximately 100 people in attendance, a total of 86 people chose to sign in on the sign-in sheet 
(see attached) and a total of 79 questionnaires were handed in that evening (see attached). 
 

 
**Majority of the Questionnaires were filled out prior to listening to the presentation.  
 
 
Recap of the Questionnaire results: 

 Support of the project   96%  (76 responses) 
 Opposed to the project 3%  (2 responses) 
 Undecided (yes & no)  1%  (1 response) 

 
Concerns about the proposed project: 

 No / None    84.5%  ( 67 responses) 
 Yes     7.6%  ( 6 responses) 
 No Response    7.6%  ( 6 responses) 

 
Specific Comments fell within the following categories: 

 Support  
o Positive community impacts 
o Additional jobs  
o Positive Economic impact community / province 
o Support of LOCAL businesses / producers 
o Convenience / one stop shopping 
o Choice 
o BC VQA quality wines 

 Non – Support  
o Proximity of existing liquor store (2) 



17 | P a g e  
 

o Yes (without details) (1) 
o Selling to minors (1) 
o Mix to include beer (1) (was for the proposed project) 
o Avg. price of the wine $18 (1) 

 Please note that one party came to us after the end of the presentation to say that they would have 

changed their response if they had filled out at the end of the presentation as when we reviewed our 

security plan, we answered off all of their concerns with regard to selling to minors and what steps we 

had in place. 

 
  



18 | P a g e  
 

Facilitators’ Impressions from Development Information Session 
 
Steve Moriarty -  
To Summarize my interaction with the attendees in our meeting, one word.. ‘refreshing’!... as I 
discussed with person after person, a completely positive and supportive dialogue. I didn’t have one 
negative or unsupportive conversation, I did have people tell me that, they were surprised at the 
detail and level to which we addressed every possible concern that anyone could have…. The 
overwhelming response was simply… ‘Why wouldn’t the city let you?”… 
Based on approx. 100 guests to visit the meeting and no one vocally negative I would assume a very 
small percentage of folks are concerned enough to oppose the proposal. 
This aligns almost identically with every one of the current 11 stores that we have opened… virtually 
every customer supports the sale of 100% BC grown and produced wine products…People of North 
Vancouver want wine in the grocery store and are willing to support the process at every option. 
 
Cindy McLean –  
I was responsible for sign in and giving out the questionnaires to the attendees.  The room was filled to capacity 
and I felt a great deal of excitement from the people in attendance.   
 
At the end of the meeting when I had a chance to speak with people on a one on one basis, I had some 
discussions on how they felt this to be something that is long past due. Mention was made that people should be 
allowed to make their own decisions on whether they choose to purchase alcohol and where they chose to 
purchase it.   
 
One couple asked me straight out if this process (DIS session) was normal procedure, as they could not believe 
that the city would not be behind us 100%.  The same couple that I spoke to specifically asked that we keep 
them informed about our progress as they would like to have an opportunity to speak to the positive aspects of 
having BC VQA Wine in Grocery Stores.   
 
Other people were very excited about learning the economic benefits of the BC Wine Industry (from reviewing 
the handouts available).   
 
There were three separate parties that asked me specific questions sales to minors and what things we had in 
place to ensure that we checked for ids; they seemed to be very impressed when I was able to show them the 
specific sections in our Security Plans and Point of Purchase guidelines where we spoke to all team members 
having Serving it Right and how our Point of Sale application works including the screen shots. I had one 
person who had mentioned he was against it as he thought it was going to be too easy for minors actually tell 
me that our process was more stringent than at the liquor stores. 
 
All in all, I felt all people had any questions or concerns met by the time they left the meeting. 
 
  



19 | P a g e  
 

Kate Vanderbyl-Keates 
I have heard versions of this presentation several times now, and every time the impact is more immediate and 
more powerful. We have more locations and more pictures to show the public, and the positive impression we 
made this time was felt quicker in the room as people listened and looked around. I think the crowd was 
generally pleased with the information we provided and the responses we gave to their questions and concerns. 
The people who approached me after with the question “how many wines will you have in the store?” were 
thrilled to hear that we carry approximately 1000 different wines from 160 or so suppliers, every one 100% 
grown, produced and approved here in BC. They agreed with the idea of local food and local wine going hand 
in hand. They also loved the convenience of being able to roll their carts with their children in tow up and down 
the aisles freely, and only stand in one line to pay for all their purchases including wine at the same time. 
 
Ray Pighin 
My overall perception of the meeting was positive and as a whole the turnout was great and constructive. It was 
nice to have so many questions asked and also great to have the insight of the one city council members. The 
presentation of course was great and informative covering off on the wine industry as a whole and explaining 
how Save On Foods will sell wine ethically, morally and safely. I think everyone left the meeting feeling more 
confident on the process and what Save On Foods is actually doing. 
  
The conversations I had were mostly regarding the signage that is hung in and around the wine dept. It was 
reassuring to hear after showing the different signs that the messages being conveyed on the signs that they 
were clear and understandable. A sign that prompted a few questions was the ID sign. After explaining our 
requirements and the process that takes place at the till and how the till itself works, the process became clear. 
Of course other questions received were regarding the time line when a wine store would open in North 
Vancouver.  
 
In general the feel was extremely positive and I feel the community cannot wait to see a Wines of British 
Columbia store open. 
 
Amanda Carnegie 
Every answer to every question that was asked seemed to be met with a positive response. The people were 
pleasantly surprised with the information that was given regarding our ID policies. The conversations I had after 
the presentation were centered around the selection of wine that we carry in our stores. Most people were 
surprised to know how many 100% BC grown and produced wines there are out there and were amazed to 
know the amount of wines we carry in our stores that are only available in our stores or at the winery. They 
loved the supporting local aspect and the convenience of being able to pay for their wine when they pay for 
their groceries. The very last question I was asked was, “What can we do to help speed up this  process and get 
wine in our grocery store?”.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



20 | P a g e  
 

Event Details 
 
Development Information Session – January 10, 2017 
 
Event: Developers Information Session.  Early Public Input Opportunity - Amend Comprehensive 
Development Zone to permit one Wine Store Licence within grocery store. 
 
       
Date:   January 10, 2017 
Time:    6:00pm – 8:00pm 
Location:  Holiday Inn North Vancouver, 700 Old Lillooet Rd, North Vancouver, BC    
       

Communications & Information Provided 
 
In preparation of the Development Information Session, the Overwaitea Food Group & Save-On-Foods fulfilled 
the requirements set out by the District of North Vancouver  
 

 Early Application Signs installed -  4’ x 8’ three(3) posted on the property site as directed by CNV 
 Early Application Newspaper Ad -  North Shore News January 4 & 6, 2017 
 Early Application Hand Outs – Hand delivered from December 22 – December 28, 2016 to neighbors of 

applicant within a 40 meter radius 
 Early Application bag Stuffer – given to customers (Friday January 6 – Monday January 9) 

 
 
Documents / Handouts / Presentations /Information available at DIS for review or distribution 
 

 Wine Store Posters – 22” x 28” posters with pictures of all of our existing 11 VQA wine stores  
 Alcohol Sense Posters - 22” x 28” posters (responsible sale, service and consumption of liquor) 
 Wine Store hours signs - 22” x 28” posters 
 Examples of Wine Promotions - 22” x 28” posters 
 Examples of Wine Shelf Labels  
 Discover the Wines of British Columbia brochures 
 Security Plan for the Sales of Wine 
 Point of Purchase Guidelines for Wine Sales 
 Wine Store Terms and Conditions – A Guide for Liquor Licensees in BC 
 British Columbia’s Wine Economy -  Handouts 
 BC Wine Institute Fiscal 2016 Highlights – Handouts 
 Canada’s Wine Economy – Handouts 
 Power Point Presentation by Steve Moriarty 

 
 

 
Development Information Session Sign-in Sheets and Questionnaires Collected 

 Completed DIS Sign-in Sheets  
 Completed DIS Questionnaires 

  



21 | P a g e  
 

Development Information Session Site Signs 

 
 

   
**Label installed on the Site Sign for the DIS Location information 

 

     
 
  



22 | P a g e  
 

Developer Information Session Newspaper Ad  
 
Advertised in January 4th and January 6th, 2017 North Shore Newspaper 

 
 
 
 
 
 



23 | P a g e  
 

North Shore News  

 
 
North Shore News  

  



24 | P a g e  
 

Development Information Session Notice Handout  
Hand delivered December 22 – 28, 2016 

 

 
 



25 | P a g e  
 

Delivery Map and Confirmation Sheets 

 
 

 



26 | P a g e  
 

 
 
Entries 47 – 49 there was no one in person to speak with but invitation was left for them.  



27 | P a g e  
 

Development Information Session Bag Stuffer 
 

 
  



28 | P a g e  
 

Development Information Session Presentation (Steve Moriarty) 
 

 



29 | P a g e  
 



30 | P a g e  
 



31 | P a g e  
 

 



32 | P a g e  
 



33 | P a g e  
 



34 | P a g e  
 



35 | P a g e  
 



36 | P a g e  
 

 
 
  



37 | P a g e  
 

Various 22” x 28” Posters for Information / Viewing 
 
Security Plan 

 



38 | P a g e  
 

Wine Signage 

 
 



39 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
 

 



40 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 



41 | P a g e  
 

 
 



42 | P a g e  
 

 
 



43 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
 



44 | P a g e  
 

 
 



45 | P a g e  
 

 
  



46 | P a g e  
 

BC Wine Institute 2016 Fiscal Highlights (Handout) 

 
 
 



47 | P a g e  
 

BC Wine Economy & Canada’s Wine Economy (Handouts) 

           



48 | P a g e  
 

 

Alcohol Sense Posters 

 
 



49 | P a g e  
 

 
 



50
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 O
p

e
n

 H
o

u
se

 S
ig

n
 I

n
 S

h
e

e
ts

 

 



51
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 



52
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 



53
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 



54
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 

 



55
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 O
p

e
n

 H
o

u
se

 Q
u

e
st

io
n

n
a

ir
e

s

 



56
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 



57
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 



58
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 



59
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 



60
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



61
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



62
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



63
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



64
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



65
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



66
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



67
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



68
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



69
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



70
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



71
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



72
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



73
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



74
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



75
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



76
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



77
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



78
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



79
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



80
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



81
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



82
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



83
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



84
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



85
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



86
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



87
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



88
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



89
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



90
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



91
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



92
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



93
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



94
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



95
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



96
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



97
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



98
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



99
 | 

P
a

g
e

 
 



10
0 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
1 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
2 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
3 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
4 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
5 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
6 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
7 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
8 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



10
9 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
0 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
1 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
2 

| P
a

g
e

 
 

 
 



11
3 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
4 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
5 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
6 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
7 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
8 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



11
9 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
0 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
1 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
2 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
3 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
4 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
5 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
6 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
7 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
8 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



12
9 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



13
0 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



13
1 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



13
2 

| P
a

g
e

 
 



13
3 

| P
a

g
e

 
 

 



134 | P a g e  
 

Contacts 
 
Steve Moriarty – Director, Wines of British Columbia@Save-On-Foods 
Overwaitea Food Group 
Email - Steve_moriarty@owfg.com 
Work -  (604)881-3422 
Cell -    (604)818-2324 
 
Cindy McLean – Manager, STB 
Overwaitea Food Group 
Email – Cindy_mclean@owfg.com 
Work -  (604)881-3872 
Cell -   (604)313-4004 
 
  
 
 

 
 

mailto:Steve_moriarty@owfg.com
mailto:Cindy_mclean@owfg.com


Office of the Medical Health Officer
Vancouver Coastal Health - North Shore
5th floor – 132 West Esplanade
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1A2

Dec. 19, 2016

Ms. Carly Rosenblat
Planning Technician, Community Development
City of North Vancouver
141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9

Dear Ms. Rosenblat,

Re: Rezoning Application for 333 - Brooksbank Ave (REZ2016-00013)

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this rezoning application.

Evidence suggests that selling alcohol in grocery stores creates public health risks that are not 
present when alcohol is sold in liquor stores.(1-5)

The relationship between price and alcohol consumption is well established:  Lower prices lead 
to increased consumption.  Grocery stores operate on thin margins and may be able to offer 
lower alcohol prices due to higher sales volumes, undercutting competitors and lowering alcohol 
prices across the board.(6) They may also be able to undermine alcohol minimum pricing by 
offering combination deals involving alcohol and food. 

Availability of alcohol in grocery stores also poses the significant risk that alcohol purchases 
may displace purchases of nutritious food. This is a particular concern as it is known that people 
with higher alcohol consumption have poorer diets than those with lower consumption.(7, 8)
Additionally, on days that people consume higher amounts of alcohol, their nutritional intake 
tends to be poorer.(9) These findings hold for moderate drinkers, people who drink with meals, 
and binge drinkers.(10) In addition to displacing nutritious food, alcohol is also a risk factor for 
obesity.(11, 12)

Given their many customers, grocery stores can promote alcohol to vulnerable populations, 
including youth and people suffering from alcohol-related problems. While many alcohol 
purchases are planned, in-store alcohol availability and promotion has a strong ability to 
influence purchasing decisions, in particular enabling impulse purchases. Young people report 
strong links between point-of-sale promotions and alcohol consumption.(13-15) A study of US 
grocery stores and supermarkets selling alcohol found that many stores had low-height alcohol 
advertisements; these are most visible to children and youth, as opposed to being in the sight-line 
of adults. Many stores also promoted alcohol outside of the areas of the store where alcohol was 
on-shelf.(16) Finally, exposure to alcohol cues elicits cravings in drinkers and increases their 
willingness to spend money on alcohol.(17, 18)

Finally, stores that exclusively sell alcohol have design and sales features that minimize risk of 
sales to minors. In such stores it is easier to assess when youth are browsing alcohol products, 
and more evident when they are attempting to purchase alcohol. In contrast, in a grocery store 



Office of the Medical Health Officer
Vancouver Coastal Health - North Shore
5th floor – 132 West Esplanade
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1A2

environment, it may be more difficult to monitor and enforce restrictions on youth purchasing. A 
study in Oregon found that underage-appearing youth were more likely to be able to purchase 
alcohol without an ID at grocery stores than at liquor stores.(19) Grocery stores are also less
likely to post alcohol sales warning signs, and are less likely to adopt practices that lower the 
probability of selling to minors.(20)

Given the potential for the sale of alcohol in grocery stores to adversely impact the health of 
residents, I recommend that the City of North Vancouver deny this rezoning application.

Sincerely,

Mark Lysyshyn, MD, MPH,
FRCPC Medical Health Officer
Vancouver Coastal Health, North Shore & Sea to Sky

References

1. Wagenaar AC, Langley JD. Alcohol licensing system changes and alcohol consumption: 
introduction of wine into New Zealand grocery stores. Addiction. 1995;90:773-83.
2. Adrian M, Ferguson BS, Her M. Does allowing the sale of wine in Quebec grocery stores 
increase consumption? Journal of studies on alcohol. 1996;57(4):434-48.
3. Macdonald S. The impact of increased availability of wine in grocery stores on 
consumption: four case histories. British journal of addiction. 1986;81(3):381-7.
4. Smart RG. The impact on consumption of selling wine in grocery stores. Alcohol and 
alcoholism. 1986;21(3):233-6.
5. Wagenaar AC, Holder HD. A change from public to private sale of wine: results from 
natural experiments in Iowa and West Virginia. Journal of studies on alcohol. 1991;52(2):162-
73.
6. Johnston R, Stafford J, Pierce H, Daube M. Alcohol promotions in Australian 
supermarket catalogues. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2016.
7. Breslow RA, Guenther PM, Juan W, Graubard BI. Alcoholic Beverage Consumption, 
Nutrient Intakes, and Diet Quality in the US Adult Population, 1999-2006. Journal of the 
American Dietetic Association. 2010;110:551-62.
8. Breslow RA, Guenther PM, Smothers BA. Alcohol drinking patterns and diet quality: 
The 1999-2000 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. American Journal of 
Epidemiology. 2006;163:359-66.
9. Breslow RA, Chen CM, Graubard BI, Jacobovits T, Kant AK. Diets of drinkers on 
drinking and nondrinking days: NHANES 2003-20081-3. American Journal of Clinical 
Nutrition. 2013;97:1068-75.
10. Valencia-Martín JL, Galán I, Rodríguez-Artalejo F. The association between alcohol 
consumption patterns and adherence to food consumption guidelines. Alcoholism: Clinical and 
Experimental Research. 2011;35:2075-81.



Office of the Medical Health Officer
Vancouver Coastal Health - North Shore
5th floor – 132 West Esplanade
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1A2

11. V.N. H, L.K. M. Interrelationships of moderate and high alcohol consumption with diet 
and health status. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1985:356-62.
12. Yeomans MR. Alcohol, appetite and energy balance: Is alcohol intake a risk factor for 
obesity? Physiology and Behavior. 2010;100:82-9.
13. Jones SC, Smith KM. The effect of point of sale promotions on the alcohol purchasing 
behaviour of young people in metropolitan, regional and rural Australia. Journal of Youth 
Studies. 2011;14:885-900.
14. Pettigrew S, Biagioni N, Jones SC, Daube M, Kirby G, Stafford J, et al. Sales promotion 
strategies and youth drinking in Australia. Social science & medicine. 2015;141:115-22.
15. Jones SC, Barrie L, Gregory P, Allsop S, Chikritzhs T. The influence of price-related 
point-of-sale promotions on bottle shop purchases of young adults. Drug Alcohol Rev. 
2015;34(2):170-6.
16. Control CfD, Prevention. Point-of-purchase alcohol marketing and promotion by store 
type--United States, 2000-2001. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 
2003;52(14):310.
17. MacKillop J, O'Hagen S, Lisman SA, Murphy JG, Ray LA, Tidey JW, et al. Behavioral 
economic analysis of cue-elicited craving for alcohol. Addiction. 2010;105(9):1599-607.
18. Amlung M, MacKillop J. Understanding the effects of stress and alcohol cues on 
motivation for alcohol via behavioral economics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2014;38(6):1780-9.
19. Paschall MJ, Grube JW, Black C, Flewelling RL, Ringwalt CL, Biglan A. Alcohol outlet 
characteristics and alcohol sales to youth: results of alcohol purchase surveys in 45 Oregon 
communities. Prev Sci. 2007;8:153-9.
20. Wolfson M, Toomey TL, Murray DM, Forster JL, Short BJ, Wagenaar AC. Alcohol 
outlet policies and practices concerning sales to underage people. Addiction. 1996;91:589-602.

































Policy Committee Meeting 
Licensed Retail Liquor Sales
Presented October 26, 2015
Community Development



Agenda
1) Staff Introduction (10 minutes)

– Background
– Policy Alternatives

2) Public Input (3 minutes per speaker)
3) Questions and Comments from the Policy Committee
4) Recommendation of the Policy Committee

2



Purpose of the Meeting
To consider options to municipal regulations 
for retail liquor stores.

– Private retail liquor stores, gov’t liquor stores,
wine stores, liquor sales in grocery stores.

– Scope does not include Liquor Primary / Food 
Primary uses.

3



Background
• For several decades, the City has required a rezoning 

application for any new private licensed retail liquor 
sales.

• Until recently local governments did not have the 
authority to regulate the location of government liquor 
stores or wine stores.

• In July 20, 2015, Council enacted a moratorium on 
considering new licensed applications pending Council 
direction.

4



Background
• Provincial review January 31, 2014 resulted in:

– Goal of providing more accessible liquor service
– Resulted in wine stores being subject to municipal 

regulations (previously exempt)
– Grocery store sales now possible (must comply with 

local bylaws)

5



Current Regulations

6

PROVINCIAL POLICY CITY POLICY
Types of Licences Local Gov't App. 

Req'd
Distance 

Requirement
Moratorium 

on New 
Licences

Distance Policy Zoning 
Requirement

Licensee Retail Stores (Private Liquor Stores)

Yes* (new, 
relocation and 
changes to lic.)

1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

* Requires public consultation



Current Regulations

7

PROVINCIAL POLICY CITY POLICY
Types of Licences Local Gov't App. 

Req'd
Distance 

Requirement
Moratorium 

on New 
Licences

Distance Policy Zoning 
Requirement

Licensee Retail Stores (Private Liquor Stores)
Yes* (new, relocation 

and changes to lic.) 1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Government Owned Liquor Stores
Must conform to 

local zoning & policy 1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

* Requires public consultation



Current Regulations

8

PROVINCIAL POLICY CITY POLICY
Types of Licences Local Gov't App. 

Req'd
Distance 

Requirement
Moratorium 

on New 
Licences

Distance Policy Zoning 
Requirement

Licensee Retail Stores (Private Liquor Stores)
Yes* (new, relocation 

and changes to lic.) 1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Government Owned Liquor Stores
Must conform to local 

zoning & policy 1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Storefront Retail Wine Stores (Independent 
Wine Stores, 100% BC produced or VQA)

No N/A Yes, no date N/A Rezoning

* Requires public consultation



Current Regulations

9

PROVINCIAL POLICY CITY POLICY
Types of Licences Local Gov't App. 

Req'd
Distance 

Requirement
Moratorium 

on New 
Licences

Distance Policy Zoning 
Requirement

Licensee Retail Stores (Private Liquor Stores)

Yes* (new, 
relocation and 
changes to lic.)

1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Government Owned Liquor Stores
Must conform to 

local zoning & policy 1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Storefront Retail Wine Stores (Independent 
Wine Stores or VQA)

No N/A Yes, no date N/A Rezoning

Liquor in Grocery Stores

Liquor store "in store" Yes* 1 km. To July, 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Wine store "in store“ (any wine) No N/A Yes, no date N/A Rezoning

Wine on shelf (100% BC produced or VQA only) No N/A Yes, no date N/A Rezoning* Requires public consultation



Current Regulations

10

PROVINCIAL POLICY CITY POLICY
Types of Licences Local Gov't App. 

Req'd
Distance 

Requirement
Moratorium 

on New 
Licences

Distance Policy Zoning 
Requirement

Licensee Retail Stores (Private Liquor Stores)
Yes* (new, relocation 

and changes to lic.) 1 km. To July 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Government Owned Liquor Stores
Must conform to local 

zoning & policy 1 km. To July 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Storefront Retail Wine Stores (Independent 
Wine Stores or VQA)

No N/A Yes, no date N/A Rezoning

Liquor in Grocery Stores

Liquor store "in store" Yes* 1 km. To July 2022 1 km. Rezoning

Wine store "in store“ (any wine) No N/A Yes, no date N/A Rezoning

Wine on shelf (100% BC produced or VQA only) No N/A Yes, no date N/A Rezoning



Policy Alternatives
• Option 1 – Maintain Current Policy
• Option 2 – Wine Sales Limiting Distance     

Policy
• Option 3 – General Limiting Distance-

Zoning 

11



Option 1- Current Policy
Maintain the 1km separation between LRS’s only
(current City & Provincial Requirement)
• Rezoning requirement for all licenses
• No limiting distance for wine stores
• Council to make a case-by-case determination on the 

suitability of a proposed location through rezoning
• Opportunity for public input

12



Option 2- Wine Sales Limiting Distance 
Policy

Revise the policy for separation of liquor facilities to permit 
one LRS and one Wine Store/Grocery Wine Sales within 
1 km.

– City policy would be developed for grocery store wine 
on shelf and wine stores

– Rezoning required

13



14

Option 2 – Wine Sales Limiting 
Distance Policy 

Existing Licensed Wine Stores
Existing & Potential Licensed Liquor Stores
Government and Retail



Option 3 – General Limiting Distance Zoning for 
any Licensed Sales

Prepare a Zoning Amendment Bylaw to incorporate a limiting 
distance parameter of one kilometre from any existing licensed 
liquor sales facility and any established after September 2015, 
including retail wine stores, licensee retail stores (gov’t and 
private), and liquor (including wine) in grocery stores. 

• New liquor sales would NOT be supported in nearly all areas 
of the City. In-aisle wine sales, new wine stores, and new 
retail sales would not be supportable under the policy.

• Some existing licensed retailers will become nonconforming 

15



16

Option 3 – Limiting Distance Zoning for any Licensed Sales
Existing & Potential Licensed Wine and Liquor Stores



17

Option 3 – Limiting Distance Zoning for any Licensed Sales
Existing & Potential Licensed Wine and Liquor Stores

Non-Conforming



Summary

18

Features Option 1 Option 2 Option 3
Rezoning Req.   

Public Hearing   

Wine Sales – Limiting 
Distance

No 1 km policy from 
other wine sales

1 km zoning control 
from any licensed sales

Retail Liquor Stores 1 km policy from 
other LRSs

1 km policy from 
other LRSs

1 km zoning control 
from any licensed sales

Expansion Potential No new LRS; market to 
determine wine store 

uses

No new LRS; two 
wine sales uses

Very Limited



Next Steps
• Council Consideration of input and Policy 

Committee recommendation
• Rezoning with Public Hearing would be 

required

19



Agenda
1) Staff Introduction (10 minutes)

– Background
– Policy Alternatives

2) Public Input (3 minutes per speaker)
3) Questions and Comments from the Policy Committee
4) Recommendation of the Policy Committee

20



21

Thank you.



City of North Vancouver 

COUNCIL POLICY 

Policy Name:  Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy 

Policy Number:  

City of North Vancouver Council Policy 1 | P a g e  
   Document: 1441026 

POLICY 

General Policy 

This Policy establishes location criteria for evaluating rezoning requests to establish 
new retail liquor sales. 

Applicability 

This policy is applicable to all development applications seeking Council approval to 
permit retail liquor sales.   

Retail liquor sales include all stores that sell beer, wine or spirits. This includes 
Provincial Liquor stores, private liquor stores, wine on shelf sales, and private wine 
stores. The limiting distance policy does not apply to proposed new Liquor Primary 
establishments. 

By Provincial policy, Provincial liquor stores must conform to City zoning regulations 
and Policy. 

This policy supersedes the Licensee Liquor Retail Stores Location Policy. 

Authority to Act 

Administration of this policy is delegated to the Community Development 
Department. 

L30A



Policy Name:  Retail Liquor Sales Location 

Policy Policy Number:  

City of North Vancouver Council Policy 2 | P a g e  
Document: 1441026 

PROVISIONS AND PROCEDURES 

All retail liquor sales in the City of North Vancouver require a rezoning. Applications 
for rezoning to permit new retail alcohol sales will be accompanied by a staff report 
which evaluates the application based on the following criteria: 

• Proximity to Existing Retail Alcohol Sales

New retail liquor sales locations should be located greater than one kilometer
from any site with existing retail liquor sales. This limiting distance criteria
applies to all retail liquor sales including in-aisle wine sales, wine stores,
government liquor stores, and retail liquor stores.

• Proximity to Liquor Primary Licensed Premises

• Proximity to Community Facilities, Schools, Parks and Family-Centered
Gathering Places

Approval date: Approved by: Council 

Effective date: Revision date: 

September 19, 2016



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14th STREET, NORTH 
VANCOUVER, BC, ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 19, 2016.

REPORTS OF COMMITTEES. COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES AND STAFF

Policy Revision to Establish a One Kilometre Radius Between All 
Retail Liquor Sales - File: 01-0340-50-0008/1

Report:

9.

City Planner and Manager, Business Services, September 
14, 2016

PURSUANT to the report of the City Planner and Manager, Business 
Services, dated September 14, 2016, entitled “Policy Revision to Establish 
a One Kilometre Radius Between All Retail Liquor Sales”:

WHEREAS Council has directed staff to report back with a revision to the 
City’s Liquor policy to include wine stores and in-aisle wine sales;

THAT the City’s Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy be amended to 
establish a one kilometre radius between all retail liquor establishments.

Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Mayor Mussatto

THAT the report be referred back to staff for refinement and clarification.

Referral motion DEFEATED

Councillor Bell, Councillor Bookham, Councillor Buchanan, Councillor Clark and 
Councillor Keating are recorded as voting contrary to the referral motion.

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Clark

A vote was then taken on the main motion.
Main motion CARRIED

Mayor Mussatto is recorded as voting contrary to the main motion.



The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Darrell R. Mussatto and Members of Council

From: M. Epp, City Planner
L. R. Orr, Manager, Business Services

SUBJECT: POLICY REVISION TO ESTABLISH A ONE KILOMETRE RADIUS 
BETWEEN ALL RETAIL LIQUOR SALES

Date: September 14,2016 File No: 01-0340-50-0008/1

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Please refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the City Planner and Manager, Business Services, 
dated September 14, 2016, entitled “Policy Revision To Establish A One 
Kilometre Radius Between All Retail Liquor Sales”:

WHEREAS Council has directed staff to report back with a revision to the City’s 
Liquor policy to include wine stores and in-aisle wine sales:

THAT the City’s Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy be amended to establish a 
one kilometre radius between all retail liquor establishments.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Current Licensee Liquor Retail Stores Location Policy, Adopted 2011 (Document 
#1442894)

2. Proposed Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy, September 2016 (Document #1441026)
3. Staff report “Municipal Liquor Policy”: dated July 20, 2015. (Document #1442937)

REPORT: Policy Revision To Establish A One Kilometre Radius Between All Retail Liquor Sales Page 1 of 3
Date: September 14, 2016 #1440936



PURPOSE:

To respond to Council’s request for staff to prepare a revised Liquor Policy which 
encompasses all types of retail liquor sales and establishes a one kilometre limiting 
distance between these uses. The resolution from the July 25, 2016 meeting of Council 
follows:

THAT the City’s Liquor Policy be referred back to staff to bring forward a policy 
that would reflect the interest of establishing a one kilometre radius that applies 
to both Licensee Retail Stores (LRS) and wine stores / wine on shelf;

AND THAT no further rezonings be considered at this time.

BACKGROUND:

Current provincial liquor licensing regulations require that retail liquor stores (beer/wine 
and spirits) be located at least one kilometre apart. City regulation of retail liquor sales is 
done through the Zoning Bylaw and Council Policy. Similar to provincial regulations, 
City Policy currently requires a limiting distance of one kilometre between retail liquor 
stores but not wine stores. With respect to zoning controls, all licensed retail liquor sales 
(wine, beer and spirits) are generally prohibited in the City unless specifically zoned for 
that use. As a result, new liquor stores of any kind require a rezoning.

At meetings held July 20, 2015, October 26, 2015, and July 25, 2016, Council 
considered options for the regulation of liquor sales in the City. On July 25, 2016 
Council directed staff to prepare revisions to the Liquor Policy (Attachment #2 to this 
report) to include wine stores and wine on shelf sales and to establish a one kilometre 
buffer between liquor sales under this expanded definition of liquor.

DISCUSSION:

Policy Implications

Previous reports discussed the implications of expanding the one kilometre limiting 
distance and other options for regulating new retail liquor sales in detail. As discussed in 
previous reports, expanding the scope of the current Licensee Liquor Retail Stores 
Location Policy (Attachment #1) to include wine sales and other types of retail liquor 
sales would severely limit any new retail liquor sales in the City and could impact 
potential relocations of existing operations.

With the adoption of the attached Policy, the City would still require a rezoning for all 
new or relocated businesses proposing retail liquor sales. Rezoning requests would be 
evaluated against the Policy and would be considered by Council.

REPORT: Policy Revision To Establish A One Kilometre Radius Between All Retail Liquor Sales Page 2 of 3
Date: September 14, 2016 #1440936



Current Applications

Staff are in receipt of two rezoning applications to allow in-aisle wine sales within 
grocery stores (at 1650 Lonsdale Avenue and 333 Brooksbank Avenue). These 
applications have been placed in temporary abeyance as per previous Council direction. 
These applications would be inconsistent with established policy should Council adopt 
the revised Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy (Attachment #2), which establishes new 
location criteria for wine sales and other retail liquor sales.

With the adoption of a revised policy, staff would resume processing these rezoning 
applications and bring these requests forward for Council consideration. Per the revised 
policy, staff reports would include a section evaluating the proposals for consistency 
with the established Policy.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

Nil

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS:

This report was considered by the Major Projects Committee at their September 13, 
2016 meeting. The MPC continues to support the recommendation in the previous staff 
report dated July 20, 2016 (Attachment #3).

SUSTAINABILITY COMMENTS:

Nil.

CORPORATE PLAN AND/OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS:

This report will result in a change to the existing City Policy on retail liquor sales which 
would establish expectations for the processing

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

LnK. ^)rr /
Manager, Business Services

ME:LO:eb:skj

REPORT: Policy Revision To Establish A One Kilometre Radius Between All Retail Liquor Sales Page 3 of 3
Date: September 14, 2016 #1440936





City of North Vancouver 

COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Policy Name:  Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy 

Policy Number:  TO BE ASSIGNED 

 

 
City of North Vancouver Council Policy 1 | P a g e  

     Document: 1441026 

 
POLICY 
 
General Policy 
 
This Policy establishes location criteria for evaluating rezoning requests to establish 
new retail liquor sales. 
 
Applicability 
 
This policy is applicable to all development applications seeking Council approval to 
permit retail liquor sales.   

Retail liquor sales include all stores that sell beer, wine or spirits. This includes 
Provincial Liquor stores, private liquor stores, wine on shelf sales, and private wine 
stores. The limiting distance policy does not apply to proposed new Liquor Primary 
establishments. 

 
By Provincial policy, Provincial liquor stores must conform to City zoning regulations 
and Policy. 
 
This policy supersedes the Licensee Liquor Retail Stores Location Policy. 
 
 
Authority to Act 
 
Administration of this policy is delegated to the Community Development 
Department. 
 
 
  



Policy Name:  Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy 

Policy Number:  To be assigned after Council adoption 

 
 

 
City of North Vancouver Council Policy 2 | P a g e  

Document: 1441026 

PROVISIONS AND PROCEDURES 

All retail liquor sales in the City of North Vancouver require a rezoning. Applications 
for rezoning to permit new retail alcohol sales will be accompanied by a staff report 
which evaluates the application based on the following criteria:  

• Proximity to Existing Retail Alcohol Sales 

New retail liquor sales locations should be located greater than one kilometer 
from any site with existing retail liquor sales. This limiting distance criteria 
applies to all retail liquor sales including in-aisle wine sales, wine stores, 
government liquor stores, and retail liquor stores. 

 

• Proximity to Liquor Primary Licensed Premises 
 

• Proximity to Community Facilities, Schools, Parks and Family-Centered 
Gathering Places  
 

 
 
 
 
Approval date:  Approved by: Council 
    
Effective date:  Revision date:  
    
    

 



















City of North Vancouver 

COUNCIL POLICY 
 

Policy Name:  Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy 

Policy Number:  L30A 
 

 
City of North Vancouver Council Policy 1 | P a g e  

     Document: 1441026 

 
POLICY 
 
General Policy 
 
This Policy establishes location criteria for evaluating rezoning requests to establish 
new retail liquor sales. 
 
Applicability 
 
This policy is applicable to all development applications seeking Council approval to 
permit retail liquor sales.   

Retail liquor sales include all stores that sell beer, wine or spirits. This includes 
Provincial Liquor stores, private liquor stores, wine on shelf sales, and private wine 
stores. The limiting distance policy does not apply to proposed new Liquor Primary 
establishments. 
 
By Provincial policy, Provincial liquor stores must conform to City zoning regulations 
and Policy. 
 
This policy supersedes the Licensee Liquor Retail Stores Location Policy. 
 
 
Authority to Act 
 
Administration of this policy is delegated to the Community Development 
Department. 
 
 
  



Policy Name:  Retail Liquor Sales Location Policy 

Policy Number:  L30A 
 

 

 
City of North Vancouver Council Policy 2 | P a g e  

Document: 14737957 

PROVISIONS AND PROCEDURES 

All retail liquor sales in the City of North Vancouver require a rezoning. Applications 
for rezoning to permit new retail alcohol sales will be accompanied by a staff report 
which evaluates the application based on the following criteria:  

 Proximity to Existing Retail Alcohol Sales 

New licensee retail liquor stores and government liquor store sales locations 
should be located greater than one kilometer from any site with existing 
licensee retail liquor store or government liquor store locationsales. This 
limiting distance criteria applies to all retail liquor sales including in-aisle wine 
sales, wine stores, government liquor stores, and retail liquor stores. 

 
 Proximity to Liquor Primary Licensed Premises 

 
 Proximity to Community Facilities, Schools, Parks and Family-Centered 

Gathering Places  
 

 
 
 
 

Approval date:  Approved by: Council 
    
Effective date:  Revision date:  
    
    

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
BYLAW – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
8. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8549” 

(Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8549” 
(Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment) 
be given first and second readings. 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8549 Document: 1507819-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8549 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8549” (Overwaitea Food Group, 333 Brooksbank 
Avenue, CD-131 Text Amendment). 

 
2. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of 

“Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” CD-131 Zone is hereby amended as follows: 
 

A. In CD-131, “(1) the permitted principal uses shall be limited to”, is hereby amended 
by adding the following: 
 
“(i) a retail wine sales use within Building A on Schedule 26”. 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2019. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
9. Climate Action – File: 11-5280-14-0001/2019 
 
 Submitted by Councillor McIlroy 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver’s 2010 Community Energy and 
Emissions Plan established greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) reduction targets 
of 35.7% below 2007 levels by 2030, 51.3% by 2050 and a goal of net zero by 
2107;  
 
WHEREAS over the past nine years, the world has seen accelerated rates of 
climate change impacts, including the hottest years on record, declared states of 
emergency over wildfires and extreme weather events, displacing millions of 
people and costing billions of dollars; 
 
WHEREAS in 2018, the Province of BC established GHG reduction emission 
targets of 40% below 2007 levels by 2030, 60% below 2007 levels by 2040, and 
80% below 2007 levels by 2050; 
 
WHEREAS in 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 
released a Special Report stating that emissions must decline by 45% from 2010 
levels by 2030 and reach net zero by 2050 in order to avoid severe climate 
change impacts; 
 
AND WHEREAS local governments and cities are globally taking the lead on 
climate action, with over 90 cities in the USA committing to 100% renewable 
energy by 2050, 15 communities in Canada have committed to 100% renewable 
energy and 20 cities committing to 80-100% GHG emissions reduction by 2050; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the City of North Vancouver establish 
more ambitious GHG reduction targets of 80% below 2007 levels by 2040 and 
achieving net zero or 100% emissions reductions by 2050; 
 
THAT staff be directed to incorporate said targets into forthcoming updates to 
City plans, policies and business practices and report regularly on the City’s 
progress toward achieving the targets; 
 
AND THAT a Climate and Environment Advisory Task Force or Working Group 
be struck to provide guidance and support on actions and efforts required to 
achieve the transition from current GHG emissions to the new targets. 

 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – February 25, 2019 
 

 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Section 90(1)(a) [personal information] and Section 
90(1)(e) [property matter]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 


	1 Agenda�
	2 Minutes�
	Rare Disease Day - Proclamation
	Public Input Period�
	3 Wildcoast Ecological Society - Recommendation�
	3 Delegation�
	3 Correspondence�

	4 UBCM Grant Application - Recommendation�
	4 UBCM Grant Application - Report�

	5 Joey Restaurant - Recommendation�
	5 Joey Restaurant - Report�

	6 UBCM Proposed Resolution - Recommendation�
	6 UBCM Proposed Resolution - Report�

	7 333 Brooksbank - Recommendation�
	7 333 Brooksbank - Report�
	7-1 Map�
	7-2 Rationale�
	7-3 Input Received�
	7-4 IR May 10 2017�
	7-5 Policy Committee Presentation�
	7-6 Current Policy�
	7-7 Proposed Policy�

	8 Bylaw 8549 - Recommendation�
	8 Bylaw 8549�

	9 Climate Action - Notice of Motion�
	Public Clarification Period�



